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THE UNITED STATltS DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DJSTRlCT OF NEW YORK 

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 
COMMISSION, 

t..: ~=: ~ ;: : ..... -.:~ \. 
) 

USDCSDNY 
DOCUMENT 
ELECTRONICA 

) Cusc No. 12-CV-1832 (LAK) 
Plaintiff, 

Y. 

AIUENT CAl1ITAL MARKETS LLC, 
CHICAGO TRADING MANAGERS LLC, 
SPENCEH. MONTGOMERY and BRIAN 
REYNOLI>S, 

Dcfenduuts. 

) 
) ECF Case 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

FINAL ,JlJI)(;MENT AND CONSENT ORDfm. FOR I'ERMANii:NT lN,JUNCTlON, 
CIVIL MONETARY .PENALTY AND OTHER EQUITABLE HELIEJi' AGAINST 

SPENCER MONTGOMERY and HlUAN REYNOLDS 

I. INTROJ>UCTION 

On March 13,2012, Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Commission·• 

or "CI·"T'C") tiled a Complaint against individual Defendants Spencer Montgomery 

("Montgomery") and Brinn Reynolds ("Reynolds") ("Settling Dt:fendant::;"), and two company 

Defendants, Chicago 'frading 1\.ilanagers, LLC ("CT Manngers") and A\jent Capiml Markets LLC 

("Arjent"), seeking injunctive and other equitable relief, as well as the imposition of civi I 

penalties, for alleged viol~1tions of lhe Commodity Exclumge Act. 

ll. CONSENTS AND AGREEMENTS 

To ell'ect settlement or the allegations in the Complaint against them, without a trial on 

the merits or any furtherjudicial pmceedings, Settling Defendants Montgomery and Reynolds: 
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1, Consent to the entry of this Consent Ot·der fot· Permanent Injunction, Civil 

Monet81'Y Penalty and Other Equiutble Relief Against Spencer Montgomtwy and Brian Reynolds 

("Cunsent Ordet .. '); 

2. All1rm that they luwe read and agreed to this Consent Order voluntarily, and that 

no promise, other than as specifically contained herein, or threat, has been made by the CFTC or 

nny member, ofncer, agent or representative thereof~ or by any other person, to induce consent to 

this Consent Order; 

3. Ackno\.vlcdgc scrvil.:e or the summons and Complaint; 

4. Admit the jurisdiction o I' this Comt over them and the subject matter of this ttcnon 

ptll·suar1t to Section 6c of' the Cornmodity Exch1mgc Act ("CEA" or "Act"), 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l 

(2006); 

5. Admit the jmisdiction of the CFTC over the conduct and transactions (ll issue in 

this action pursuant to the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ I, et seq.; 

6. Admit that venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) of the 

Act, 7 U.S.C. § I3a-l(e) (2006); 

7. Waive: 

(a) any and all claims that they may possess under the Equal Access to Justice 

Act, 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2006) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2006), and/or the ndes promulgated by the 

Commission in conformity therewith, Part 148 of the Regultttions, 17 C.F.R. §§ 148.1 <H s<:q. 

(20 I I), relating to, or arising ll·orn, this action; 

(b) any and all claims that they may possess under the Small Business Regulatory 

Eni'orcerncnt Fairness Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. I 04-121, §§ 201-25 3, I l 0 Stnt. 847, 857-868 
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( 1996), as amended by Pub. L. No. II 0-28, § 8302, 121 Stat. 112, 204-205 (2007), relating to, or 

arising !l·om, this action; 

(c) any claim of Double Jcopardybascd upon the institution of this action or the 

entry in this action ol' any order imposing a civil monetary penalty or any other relief, inclt1ding 

this Consent OrJer; and 

(d) any and all rights of appeal !rom this action; 

8. Consent to the continued jurisdiction of this Court over them for the purpose of 

implementing nnd enforcing the terms and conditions of this Consent Ordet· nnd for Hny other 

pllrposc relcvtmt to this action, even if Montgomery and/or Reynolds now or in the futu1·c resi(k 

outside the jurisdiction of this Court; 

9. Agree lhcy wi II not oppose enforcement of this Consent Orde1· by alleging that it 

lltils to comply with Rule 65(d) or the Federal RLdes of Civil Procedllre and waives any oqjeclion 

based tllercon: 

I 0. Agree that neitht~r they nor any of their agents or employees under their authority 

o1· control shall take any action or make any public statement denying, directly or indirectly, any 

allegation ~n the Complaint or the fac-ts and conclusions of lnw in this Consent Order, OJ' creating 

or tending to create d1e impression that the Complaint and/or this Consent Order is without a 

fl1ctual basis; provided, however, that nothing in this provision shall affect their: (a) h:stirnoninl 

obligations. or (b) right to take legal positions in other proceedings to which the CFTC is not t~ 

party. Settling Defendants Montgomery and Reynolds sh~lllundcrtuke aH steps necessary to 

ensure that a II of their agents and/o1· employees under their authority o1· contwt understand and 

comply with this agreement; and 
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I I, By conscn!ing w the entry of this Consent Order, ivlontgornery and Reynolds 

neithe1· admit nor deny tJ1c n llegations of the Complaint or the facts and conclusions of law in 

this Consent Ordet·, except as to jurisdiction und venue, which they admit. Further, Montgomery 

nnd Reynolds agr<.Jl' and intend that the allegations contained in the Complaint and all of the facts 

and conclusions oflnw in this Consent Order shall be taken as true and cmrect lHKI be given 

preclusive e!Tcct, without further proof: in tbe course of: (a) any Cttrrent or sllbsequent 

bn11kruptcy proceeding filed by, on behalf of, or against MQntgomcry or Reynolds; (b) any 

proceeding pmsuant to Section 8a of the Act, 7 U ,S.C. § 12a, and/or Part 3 of the Reg~iiHtions, 17 

C.!~ Jt §§ 3. J et seq. (20 ll ); and/or (c) any proceeding to enforce the terms of this Consent 

Order. 

12. Agree to provide immediate notice to this Court and the Cl"'T'C by certi1icd rnail, 

in lhc manner required by paragraph 53 of Parr VIl or this Consent Order, of any bankruptcy 

proceeding tiled by, on behalf' of, or against them, whether inside or outside t.hc United Stales, 

and 

13. Agree that no provision of this Conscm Orckw shall in any vvay limit or impair the 

ability of any other person or entity to seek any legal or equitable remedy agninllt th~·m in nny 

other proceeding. 

The Court, being fully udvised in the prt'miscs, t1nds that there is good cause for the entry 

of this Consent Order and thnt there is no just reason for delay. The Court the.ref(Wt\ directs the 

entry of the following Stipulations of Fact and Conclusions of Law, permanent injunction and 

t•quiwble relief pursunntlo Section Gc of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2006), as set forth herein. 

4 
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THE PAR'I'fES HERl~BY AGRJ1:ll:: 

III. STlPULATIONS 01<' FACT 

A. The Parties to This Consent Order 

14. Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent federal 

t·egulatory agency that is charged by Congt·ess with administel'ing and enforcing the Act, 

7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the Regulations promulgated thet·eundcr, 17 C.F.H .. §§ J .I el seq. 

(20 II). 

15. Defendant Montgomery is nn individual \·Vho resides in New York St~ttc. From in 

or about June 2008 and continuing through 'lt least November 2009 (the "Relevant 1\~riod"), 

Montgontt·ry was a managing member of AI;ient and CT Managers. Montgomery also was a. 

member orthe National Flttures Association registered with the Commission as an associntcd 

person for CT Managers. 

16. Defendant Reynolds is an individual who resides in Colon1do. Throughout the 

Relevant Pel'iod, Reynolds was a managing member of Aljent and CT Mnnagcrs. 

B. Hcfaulting Defendants 

17. Atjent is u Colorado Limited Liability Company !(mned on or about .February 16, 

2007, with its principal place of business in Boulder, Colorado. Throughout the Relevant Period, 

ArjcnL \Vas registered as n broker dealer with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and 

the Chicago Board Options Exchange. Ar:ient ceased operations in March 20 I 0 and was 

dissolv\:)d by Reynolds eilbctive September 4, 2011. 

18. CT Managers is a limited liability company orgnnized in Delaware on or Hbout 

April2008, with its principal places of business in Boulder, Colorado. cr Manngers was a 
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m~.:mber of the National Futures Association registered with the Commission ·as a cornmodity 

pool opc!·Htor and commodity trading advis01-. 

C. Vioh1tions of the Com mo<lity Exchange Act 

l9. As set torth more fully in the Complaint, beginning in or nbOLit June 2008 and 

continuing through Hl !east November 2009, Montgomery, Reynolds and cr Managers managed 

and operated at least two t.:ommodity pools whose funds were i11vestcd with A1jent: Chicngo 

Trading Partners US LLC and Chic<tgo Trading Partners International Ltd. (collectively lhe "CT 

Poo Is"). 

20. 'fhe pool participants in the CT Pools (hen:inuftcr, the "CT Pool Participants") 

invested approximately $9 million during the Relevant Period. 

21. All pool participant funds were aggregated in an account at a cleal'ing firm (the 

"Fun11·es Commission Merchant" or "FCM") in At:jcnt's name ("the Adent Trading Account"). 

22. Montgomery nnd Reynolds assigned subaccounts to pools, which were used to 

track cnch pool's eqtlity in the A1jenl Trading Account. 

23. Pool participants were not told that some subaccounts in tho A1:jent Trading 

Account had negative balances (the "A1:jent D~;:bits") which when netted as a whole, as required 

by the FCI'vl, made the f!Cttwl value of the pool participants' subnccounts substantially less. 

24. During the Relevant Period, lhc FCM's daily records for the Arjcnt TrtKiing 

Account netted the A1:ient Debits against the investments of the CT Pools, thus offsetting th~ 

A1:jent Debits against the CT Pools' subaccounts. 

25. Montgomery and Reynolds were both aware of the above-described 

c!umlcteristics of the A1:jent ·rrading AccounL bec~wse oftheir tolcs in esk1blishing, organizing, 

mnintaining and mo~1itoring the Account. 
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26. Montgomery and Reynolds had access to compr·ehensivc information relating to 

the A tjcnt T'rading Account, und w·ere aware of the net liquidating value of the A r:jent Trading 

Accmmt lhrough either accessing this infbrmation or discussing the net liquidating value 

amongst Ar:ient's managing members, 

27. Montgomery nnd Reynolds knew that if the Atjent Trading Account wns 

liquidated by the FCM or otherwise, t!w FCM. would only provide funds ancUor "ssots totaling 

the net liquidating valtte of the Ar:jent 'frading Account as a whole. 

28. Ovet· the course of the Relevant Period, the debits in the Atjent 'Trading Account 

increased because of, among other thing;;, Montgo111cry's and Reynolds' compcns<ttion, 

compensation paid to others assoclati::d with Arjcnt and the trades placed by traders in the Al:jcnt 

Trading 1\ccount whose trading resulted in losses in excess of the assets they had deposited. 

29, By June 2009, the At:ient Debits were millions of dollars. In December 2009, 

At:ient provided to its FCM a draft Arjent disclosure statement ("Disclosure Stntement"), which 

disclosed thnt "[s]ince Oclohcr 2009, At:jent has carried negative C<lpital balances of 

arproximatcly $6.8 million," which resulted fi·om debit balances caused by trading losses 

in~.:urrcd by certain or its members, some of which \Vere "At:jcnt's managing members or entities 

operated by Arjcnt's managing members.'' 

30. Montgomery, Reynolds and CT Managers issued nnd/or caused to be issued 

through a third party administrator statements repcniing the Net Asset Values ("NAYs") !'or each 

CT Pool that did not l'ellect thu dilution of the assets caused by the A1jent Debits. 

J I. The misstutenwnts made to the CT Pool Participams were material. 
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32. In or nbout June 2009, a third commodity pool (the "Third Party PooP') Invested 

$1.5 million with A1:jent, and was similady assigned a subaccount within the A1:jent ·rrading 

Account. 

33. As with the CT Pools, Montgomery and .Reynolds and Atjent issued and/or 

caused to be issued a staterncnt to the Third Party Pool in August 2009 that inflated the 

valuations for the account as of July 3 '!, 2009. The statcrnent also fulsely indicaled that tlK· 

nccount was clearing nt a non-existent utliliatc of the FCM. 

34. The Sllbm:coutll valuations reported to the Third Party Pool in August 2009 lbr the 

month ending July 31, 2009, totaled with the valuation statements provided to the CT Pool 

Participants for that month, exceeded the actual value of the Arjent Trading Account by more 

tiHm $3,000,000. 

35. The missmt;;:ment mt1de to the Third Party Pool was material. 

36. Montgomery and Reynolds provided and/or fhciliwted the provision of ac<.:ount 

statements to the CT Pool Participants and at least one statement to the T'hird Party Pool, while 

f:1Wttre that the Atjent Debits in the Atjcnt Trading Account were not disclosed to the CT Pool 

Pnrticipant::; und/or the Third Party Pool, and that in various months the total Net Asset Values 

reported in the statements to the CT Pool Partlcirants and the cash halance of the Third Party 

Pool's investment w·erc greater than the total assets held in the Atjenl Trading Account. 

37. In connection with the winding up of At:ient and CT 1Vlanngers' business, tvvo 

At:jent managing members paid the CT Pool Participants the amount reported on their respective 

ac~;.~ount statements. 

1). Montgome1·y nnd Heynolds Controlled CT Managers and Argent 

38. Throughout the Relevant Period, both Montgomery and Reynolds mnde decisions 

l'or and carried out the business of A~jent and CT Managers. 

8 
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39. Montgomery find Reynolds controlled the bank accounts of Atjcnt nnd CT 

Managers, controlled access to the Atjcnt Trading Account, decided whether to accept new CT 

Pool Participants and pools, approved and denied redi::mption requests, tmthol'ized the payment 

of snlnrics and draws, can·ied out the day-to-day business fot· each entily, and gcnern l.ly made 

decisions on behalf o !' euch entity. 

THE PARTIES AGllEE AND THE COURT HEREBY FINDS: 

IV. CONCLUSIONS 01~· LAW 

A. ,Jurisdiction-and Yt•nue 

40. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursUtHlt to Section Clc of the 1\ct. 

7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2006), which pmvides that whenever it shall appear to the CF'TC that any 

person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a 

violation or any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation, or order promulgfltcd thereunder, the 

CFTC may bring an action in the proper district court of the United States against such person to 

enjoin such act or practice, or to enforce (.'Otnpfiancc with the Act, or any mle, n:gulation or m·der 

thereunder. 

41. Venue pt·operly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(c) of the Act. 7 U.S.C. 

§ l3a-l (c) (2006), becatiSl~ the acts and pmctices in violation of the Act occll!'l'ed with in this 

District. 

B. Violations of CI~A Section 4b 

42. By the conduct described in paragraphs 14 through 38 above---deemed udmilled by 

A1jcnt and CT Managers duu to their H1i,lure to answer the Complaint and the entry of Cct·tilicatcs of' 

Default against them-, Montgomery, Reynolds, Arjcnt and C'T Tvlanagci'S cheated and defhmdcd or 

altemJ)ted to cheat and de/'l·nud and willfully deceived or attempted lo deceive CT Pool Pm·cicipants and 
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the Third Party Pool; willfully made ot•caused to be m~lde to CT Pool Participanls and the Third Party 

Pool false reports nnd \Villfully entered or c.~aused to be entered fnlsc records for pool participanl<> and 

the Third Party pool by, among other things, knowingly or recklessly issuing ot' causing the issuance of 

account statements that ti·audulenrly misrepresented the NAV of the CT Pool Participants' investment 

and issuing or causing the lssuance of at least one statement thallhmdulently misrepresented the cash 

balance of the Third Party Pool's investment, in or in connection with orders to make, or the making of~ 

eonlrncts or sale of commodities in interstate commerce or tor future delivery 111<Kle, o1· to be made, ~m 

or suQject to the rules of a designated contract market, Jbr or on behalf of othe1· persons, in violation of 

Section<; 4 b(a)(l )(A)-(C) ol'the A~.:l, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)( l )(A)-(C) (Supp. 11 2009). 

C. Violutions or CEA Section 4o 

43, Flllther, by the conduct described in paragraphs I <I through 38 <1bove----dcemed 

admitted by A dent and cr Managers due to their failure to answer the Complaint and the entry of 

Certificates ofDei!1ult against them -, c·r Managers and Montgomet·y, (t commodity pool operator 

and nssociat~.:d person of a commodity pool operator. acting with scienter, used the mails or other 

means or in~tl'umentalitics of interstate commerce directly or indirectly to employ a device, scheme, or 

urtificc to deti'aud d1c CT Pool Pmticipnnts and the Third Party Pool, or to engage in transactions, 

practices or courses of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the CT Pool PartiCipants and 

the Third Party Pool, all in violation of Sections 4o(I)(A) und (B) ofthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6o(I)(A) tUld 

CB) (2006). 

D. Ocrivntive Linhility 

44. Montgomery and Reynolds controlle(i /\~jent and CT Managcr·s, directly or indirectly, 

and did not act in good faith Ol' knowingly induced, dit'ectly 01' indirectly, Aljent's and cr M!mngcrs' 

act or acts in violation of Section 4b(l )(l\)-(C) of the Act; therefore, pursuantlo Section 13(b) of the 

10 



Case 1:12-cv-01832-LAK   Document 40    Filed 03/19/13   Page 11 of 21

Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c{b) (2006), Montgomcty und Reynolds arc also li~tblc /()!' Atjtmt's ami CT 

Managers' violl:ltions of those Sections of the Act. 

45. Montgomery and Reynolds controlled cr Mamtgers, directly or indirectly, and did not 

act in good faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, CT Managers' act or ac.ts in violation of 

Section 4o(l )(A) and (l3) of the Act; therefore, pul'suant to Section l3(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1 Jc(b) 

(2006), l\1ontgomcry and Reynolds are also derivatively liable for CT Managers' violations of those 

Sections ofthe Act. 

46. ReynoJds aided, abetted, counseled, commanded, induced and/or pt·ocurcd the act Ol' 

acts ofrvtontgorncty and CT Managers in violation of Section 4o(!)(A) and (B) of the Acl; therefore, 

pursmmt to Section 13(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(a) (2006), Reynolds is also de!'ivatively liabk for 

Montgomery's and CT Managers' violations ofthose Sections of the Act. 

47. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Comt, there is a reasonable likelihood th?tt 

the Settling Defendants will continue to engage in tl1e acts and practices alleged in the Complaint 

and in similar acts and practices in violation ofthe Act. 

V.l'I·~RMANENT IN.JUNCTION 

IT IS HEIU:BY ORI.>ERED THAT: 

48. Based ~lpon and in connection with the foregoing conduct, pursuant to Section 6c 

of the Act, 7 U .S.C. § 13a-l (2006), Settling Defendants Montgomery und Reynolds arc 

permanently restrained, enjoined and prohibited from directly or indirectly: 

a. cheating or deli'auding, or attempting to cheat or defraud, ,)thcr persons: or 

\vii! fully making or causing to be made to other persons any raise report or 

statement ot· willfully entering or causing to be entered for the peeson any false 

record; Ol' wi II fully deceiving or attempting lo deceive other persons by any 

I I 
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means wtwtsoevcr in regard to any order ot· contract or the disposition or 

execution of any order or contract, or in regard to any act of agency performed, 

with respect to any order or contract for other persons, in or in connection with 

any o1·dcr to make, or the making of, any contr·act of sale of any cornmodily in 

interstate commerce or for future delivery that is made, or Lobe made, on or· 

subject to the rules of n designated contract 11Hlrkct, for or on behalf of any other 

person, in violation of Sections 4b(u)(l)(AHC) ofthc Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 

6b(a)(l)(A)-(C) (Supp. JJ 2009). 

b. as a cornmodity trading advisor, associated person ofn commodity trading 

advisor, commodity pool opcrator, or associulcd person of n comrnodity p•Jo! 

opcmtor, by use of the mails or any means or instrumcnlal ity of interstate 

commerce, directly or indirectly employing any device, scheme, or a1·tiflce to 

defraud any client or participant or prospective client or participant; ot· engaging 

in any transaction, pl'acticc, or course of business vvhich operates as a fraud or 

deceit upon any client or participant or prospective client or participant, in 

violation of Sections 4o(J)(A) and (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6o(l )(A) and (8). 

49. Settling Dcfcndanls arc also permanently restrained, enjoined and prohibited 

Jhm1 directly or incliredly: 

a. Controlling or d irccting the trading f\)1' or on behalf of uny other person or entity, 

whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account involving commodity 

futures, options on commodity futmcs, commodity options (ns that term is defined 

in Regulation l.3(hh), 17 C.F.R. § 1.3(hh)) ("commodity options"), security 

futures products, swaps (us that term is defined in Scction l a(47) of the Act, as 
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amended, Hml as further defined by Commission Regulation I .3(xxx), 17 C.F.R. 

1.3(xxx)) ("swaps") nnd/o1· foreign currency (as described in Sections 2(c)(2)(13) 

and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) oflhe Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 

2( c )(2 )(C)(i)) ("forex contn~ets"); 

b. Soliciting, t·eceiving or accepting any funds from any person tor the pUI·posc or 

purchasing or selling any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, 

commodity options, secul'ily futut·cs products, swaps and/or forex contracts; 

c. Applying l(w rcglstn1tlon or claiming exemption from registration with the 

Commission in any C'lpttcity, and engaging in any activity requiring such 

rcgistr<~tion or exemption fi'Om registration with the Commission, except as 

provided for in Regulntion 4.14(a)(9), I 7 C.F.R. § 4. l4(a)(9) (20 I J ); ~md/or 

d. Acting as a princlpal (ns that term is defined in Regulation J.l(a), 17 C.F.R. § 

3.1 (a) (2011 )), agent 01' any other officer or t~mrloyee of any pt~rson (as th<H term 

is defined in Section l a of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § I a) l'cgistcrcd, 

exempted from registration Ol' rccjuircd to be rcgistet·ed whh the Commission 

except as provided for ln Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4. 14(n)(9) (20 11 ). 

VI. CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY 

50. Defendant Montgomery shall pay a civil monetary penalty in the amoLml t1f One 

llundrcd and Forty 'Thousand Dollars ($140,000) (''Montgomery's CM P Obi igalion"), plus post­

judgment interest, within ten (I 0) days orthe date of the entry of this Consent Order. If 

Mnntgome1·y's Ci\·1P Obligation is not paid in fu!l wilhin ten (10) days ofthe date of entry ol'this 

Consent Order, then post-judgment inter~:st shall ti0CI'LIC on Montgomery's C~v!P Obligation 

beginning on the dale of entry of this Consent Ordet' and shall be determined hy using the 
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Tn:asury Bill rale prevailing on the date of entry of this Consent Ordct• ptlrsunnt to 28 U.S.C. § 

1961 (2006). 

51. Defendant Reynolds shall pay a civil monetary penalty in the <~mount of One 

Hundred and Forty Thousand Dollars($ J 40,000) ("l{eynolds' CMP Obligation"), plus post-

judgment interest, with in ten (I 0) days of the date of the entry of this Consent Order. If 

Reynolds' CMP Obligation is not paid in f\11! within ten (1 0) days of the date of entry of this 

Consent Order, then pos(.judgrnent interest shull accr·ue on Reynolds' Cv1P Obligation 

beginning on the date or entry ofthis Consent Order and shall be determined by using the 

·rre<lSlli'Y Bill rate prevailing on the date or entry of this Consent Ordct· pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

! 96! (2006), 

Settling Defendants shall each pay their respective CMP ObligHtions by electronic 

funds transfer, U.S. postal money order, certified check, bank ~;ashier's cl10ck, or bank money 

order, l r payn1ent is to be made other than by electronic funds transfer, then the puyment shnll be 

mnde paynble to the Commodity Futures ·r,·ading Commission Hnd sent to the addt·ess below: 

Commodity Futures 'Tmding Commission 
Division of [~nforcemen\ 
ATTN: Accounts Receivables AMZ 340 
E-mail Box: 9-AMC-AMZ-AR-CFTC 
f)()'I'/FAA/Mfv1AC 
6500 S. MacArthur Blvd. 
Oklnhoma City, OK 73169 
Telephone: (405) 954-5644 

If payment by electronic funds transfer is chosen, Settling Defendants Montgomery nnd R~ynolds 

shall contact Linda Zurhorst OJ' her suc.cessor at the address above to receive payment 

instructions and shall f'ully comply with those instructions. Settling Defendants shall accompany 

payrnent ol' lheir respective CMP Obligations with a cove1· letter that identifies Settling 

Defendants, respectively, by name 1:\lld the name and docket nllmber of this proceeding. Settling 

14 



Case 1:12-cv-01832-LAK   Document 40    Filed 03/19/13   Page 15 of 21

Defendants Montgomery and Reynolds shall simultaneously transmit copies of the covet· kttcr and 

the form of payme11t to the Chief Financial Officer, Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 

Three Laf'nyctlc Centre, I i 55 21st Street, N W, Washington, D.C. 20581. 

53. Partial Smisfllction: Any acceptance by the CFTC of partial payment of Settling 

Defendants Montgomery's or Reynolds' CMP Obligations shall not be deemed a \Vaiver of their 

respective obligations to make further payments pLJrsuant to this Consent Order, or a waiver of 

the CFTC's right to seck to compel payment of any remaining balance. 

VIL MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

54. Notice: All notices required to be given by any provision in this Consent Ordt~r 

shall be sent certified maiL retum receipt requesttd, as follows: 

NotiCe to the CFTC: 

Director, Division of Enforcement 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
I 155 21 51 Street, N. W. 
\Vashinglon, DC 20581 

Stephen J. Obic 
Associate Director/Regional Counsel 
Division of [nforccmcnt 
Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
140 Broadway, 19th F·loor 
New York, NY I 0005 
Telephone: (646) 746-9766 
Fax: (646) 74(J-9940 

Notice to Setlling Defendants: 

Brian Reynolds 
S64 Iris Ave1we 
Bol!lder, CO 80304 
Telephone: (303) 434-4694 

Spencer Montgomery 
48 I CJ len Stt·et.Jt 
Cilen Falls, NY 12801 

15 
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Telephone: (5 18) 745-9892 

All such notices to the cr:Tc shall reference the name and docket numbet· of this action. 

55. Change of Address/Phone: Until such time as each Settling Defencltmt satisfies in 

full his respective CMP Obligation as set forth in this Consent Order, ench Settling Defendant 

shall provide written notice to the Commission by certiliC(Imail of any change to his telephone 

number and mailing nddress within ten (J 0) calendar days of the chnnge. 

56. Enlir·e Agreement and Amendments: This Consent Order incoqJot·ates all ofthc 

terrns and conditions of the settlement among the parties hereto to date. Nothing shall serve to 

am(·.nd or modify this Consent Order in any respect whatsoever, unless: (a) reduced to writing; 

(b) signed by all parties h<:t·cto; and (c) uppmved by order ofthis Court. 

57. lnval idntion: I C any provision of this Consent Order or ifthe uppl icmion of any 

provision or circumstance is held invalid, then the remainder of this Consent Order anclthe 

application of the provision to any other person or circumstance shall not be niTcctcd by the 

holding. 

58. Waiver: The failut·c of any party to this Consent Order to rc.·quirc p<.:rfornumce of 

any provision ofthis Consent Order shall in no manner aftcct the right of the party fLt a l<tlet· time 

Lo enforce tht.~ same or any other provision of this Consent Order. No waiver in one or more 

instances ofthe breach or· any provision contained in this Consent Ot·der shall be clcermxllo be or 

construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or 'Naiver of the breach of nny other 

provision of this Consent Order. 

59. Continuing Jurisdiction of this Court: This Court shall rctainjurisdlction ofthis 

action to ensure compliance with this Consent Ortkr and lor· all olhc1· purposes related to !his 

16 
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action, including any motion by Montgomery and/or Reynolds to modify or for relie!' i'mrn the 

terms oft his Consent Order. 

60. lnjLmctive and Equitable Relief Provisions: 'fhe injunctive and equituble relief 

provisions of this Consent Order shall be binding upon Montgomery and Reynolds, upon any 

p<.'I'Son under the aulilodty or control offvlontgomery and/or Reynolds, and upon any person 

who rcecivcs nctuul notice ofthis Consenl 01·der, by personal service, e-mail, facsimile or 

otherwise insofm us he or she is acting in active concert or participation with Montgomery 

und/or Reynolds. 

61. Counterparts and Ji'acsimilc Execution: This Consent Order nuw be executed in 

l\vo o1· rnore counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and tl1e same ngrcemcnl and slmll 

become effective when one or mo1·c counterparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto 

and delivered (by fm:simiic, e-mail, or otherwise) to the other party, it being understood thnt all 

parties need not sign the same counterpart. Any counterpart or other signature to this Consent 

Order that is delivered by any means shall be deemed for all purposes as constituting good and 

valid execution and delivery by such party of this Consent Ordcl'. 

62. Montgomery and Reynolds understand thnt the terms of the Consent Order <H'~ 

cnfc\t'ccable through cont~;~mpt procee(lings, and that, in uny such proceedings they may not 

challenge the validity of this Consent Order. 

63. 'T'herc being no just reason for delay, the Clerk of the Collrl is ho;~rcby dircctt·d to 

enter this Consent Order !'or Permanent Injunction, Civil Monetary Penalty and Other Equitublc 

Rei against Settling Defendants Montgomery i111d Reynolds. 

17 
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Microsoft Word- Montgomery and Reynolds Consent Order CFTC ... 
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CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED BY: 

"~"k-Le~((7---
Spencer Montgomery. individually 
Glen~ Falls. NY 

Dole 3f-3-/D-
•••••• • •"' ov•••••• ••• '''''"'~ '" •o-oo~ '• • • "'-'•••<•~~-'~"-•~•~·-••><•"" '""" "' O•OW• ---~-" 

Brian Reynolds. indivtdnally 
Boulder, Col~1rado 

Date: -----------------

Approved as to fonu: 

Rauah Esmaili. Esq. 
Plllsu\Uy Winthrop Shaw Pit1man LLP 
1540 Broadway 

New York. NY 10036-4039 
Attorney f~11 Defendants Bnan Rey·nolds and 
Spencer Mont!_!omery 

https://doc-04-00-docsviewer.googleusercontent.com/viewer/secur ... 

--\ell"'----'"<--" 

Lewis A. Kapla 
llNITJo:D STATES DISTRICT JVDGE 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF U.S. 
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADfNG 
COM!\HSSION 

Laura Mmtin. Trial Attorney 
Jauine Gar~inlo, Trial Attomey 
Candice Aloisi, Trial Atiomcy 
Manal Sultan, ChiefTrial Attomey 
David Acevedo. Chief Trial Attorney 
Stephen J. Obie. Associate DirectocRegiunal 
Counsel 

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Conunission 
Division of Enforcement 
140 Broadway. 19th Floor 
New York. ~y 10005 
Telephoue: (646) 746 9766 
Fax: (646) 746-9940 

Date: ----------------------

18 

3/13/2013 12:32 PM 

https:ffdoc-04-00-docsviewer.googleusercontent.comlviewerfsecur


Case 1:12-cv-01832-LAK   Document 40    Filed 03/19/13   Page 19 of 21

IT IS SO ORDERED on this __ day ----------' 2012. 

CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED BY: 

Spencer-Montgomery, individually 
Glens Falls, NY 

Date:--------

Date: ·.3J I 3> }13 

Approved as to form: 

Ranah Esmaili, Esq. 
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP 
1540 Broadway 

New York, NY 10036-4039 
Attorney for Defendants Brian Reynolds and 
Spencer Montgomery 

Lewis A. Kaplan 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF U.S. 
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 
COMMISSION 

Laura Martin, Trial Attorney 
Janine Gargiulo, Trial Attorney 
Candice Aloisi, Trial Attorney 
Mana\ Sultan, ChiefTrial Attorney 
David Acevedo, ChiefTrial Attorney 
Stephen J. Obie, Associate Director/Regional 
Counsel 

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division of Enforcement 
140 Broadway, 19th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
Telephone: (646) 746-9766 
.Fax: (646) 746-9940 

Date:----------
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IT lS SO ORDERED on this--·-··"--- of . 

CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED BY: 

Spencer Montgomer)', individually 
Glens Falls, NY 

Date: 

Br·inn individually 
Boulder, Colorado 

Date: 

Approved as to form: 

---~~~-f:5J.UUJ.£L .... 
Ranah Esmaili, Esq. 
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP 
I 540 Broudway 

Ne\.v York, NY .I 0036-4039 
Anorncy for Defendants Brian Reynolds und 
Spencer· Montgomery 
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Lewis A. Knplun 
UNITED STATES DlSTRlCT .JUDGE 

ATTORNEYS FOIZ PLAINTIFF U.S. 
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 
COMMISSION 

Laura Martin, Trial Attorney 
Junine Gargiulo, Trial Attorney 
Candice Aloisi, Trial Attorney 
Mana! Sultan, ChiefTrial Attorney 
David Acevedo, ChicfTI'ia1 Attorney 
Stephen J. Obie, Associate Director/Rcgionnl 
Counsel 

U.S. Cotnmo{lity Futures Trading Commission 
Division of Enforcement 
140 Bmadway, 19th I1foor 
New York, NY I 0005 
Telephone: (G46) 746-9766 
Fax: (646) 746-LJ940 
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CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED BY: 

Spencer Montgomery, individually 
Glens Falls, NY 

Date: _______ _ 

Brian Reynolds, individually 
Boulder, Colorado 

Date: --------

Approved as to form: 

Ranah Esmaili, Esq. 
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP 
1540 Broadway 

New York, NY 10036~4039 
Attorney for Defendants Brian Reynolds and 
Spencer Montgomery 

Lewis A. Ka an 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

1 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF U.S. 
COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING 
COMMISSION 

' "'~--.. 

(" {,1 llct~:TL) 
Laura Martin, Trial Attorney 
Janine Gargiulo, Trial Attomey 
Candice Aloisi, Trial Attorney 
Manal Sultan, ChiefTrial Attorney 
David Acevedo, ChiefTrial Attorney 
Stephen J. Obie, Associate Director/Regional 
Counsel 

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division of Enforcement 
140 Broadway, 19th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 
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